

Working Papers

The Management of China's Huge Foreign Reserve and its Currency Composition

Authors: Liu Pan, Zhu Junbo

Section: Economics, Law and Political Sciences

Paper No. 37, 04/2008

Editors
Gert Bruche
Hansjörg Herr
Friedrich Nagel
Sven Ripsas

The Management of China's Huge Foreign Reserve and its Currency Composition

Liu Pan, Zhu Junbo

Paper No. 37, 04/2008

Working Papers of the Institute of Management Berlin at the Berlin School of Economics (FHW Berlin) Badensche Str. 50-51, D-10825 Berlin

Editors:

Prof. Dr. Gert Bruche Prof. Dr. Hansjörg Herr Prof. Dr. Friedrich Nagel Prof. Dr. Sven Ripsas

ISSN 1436 3151

Biographic notes:

Ms. Liu Pan is Associate Professor at the Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu (People's Republic of China). The Southwestern University of Finance and Economics has close links with the Berlin School of Economics in staff exchange and joint research. Ms. Liu Pan works in the field of exchange rate policy, monetary policy and economic development in Europe and China. She has several publication in that field. She also translates English books into Chinese. Her contact address is: liupan@swufe.edu.cn.

Mr. Zhu Junbo is a postgraduate student at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu.

Abstract:

In view of the current situation of China's huge foreign reserves, this paper puts forward the concepts of foreign reserve management - regular reserve management which focuses on liquidity management, and excess reserve management focusing on security and return. The scale and the currency composition of regular reserve management can be determined by the factors of usage, while the currency composition of excess management can refer to that of the Special Drawing Right issued by the IMF.

Contents

1. Introduction	4
2. The Strategy of Classifying the Management of Foreign Reserves	
3. The Management of China's Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves	6
3.1. Objectives	6
3.2. Determining the Scale of Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves	7
3.3. The Determination of the Currency Structure of Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves	3 1 C
4. The Management of China's Excess Foreign Exchange Reserves	.16
5. New Institutions for Managing Chinese Excess Foreign Exchange Reserves	.18
6. References	.19
7. Working Papers des Institute of Management Berlin an der Fachhochschule für Wirtsch	

1. Introduction

With the opening of mainland China in 1978, China implemented a dual track exchange rate system with no convertibility of RMB, and forcing foreigners to use foreign exchange certificates. In 1994, China then cancelled the dual track exchange rate system, officially devalued the RMB to 8.7 per US dollar from 5.72 per US dollar at the end of 1993, and pegged its currency to the US dollar. Since then, China's foreign reserves¹ have increased from 21.2 billion US dollars in 1994 to 1.06 trillion US dollars at the end of 2006, when the reserve size exceeded Japan's to become the largest in the world. On July 21, 2005, China's central bank announced a reform of the foreign exchange rate system. This new system (1) appreciated the RMB to 8.11 per US dollar, (2) introduced a more flexible and market-driven exchange rate, and (3) based the central rate of exchange on a basket of currencies, which have a close relationship with China's trade and economy, including the US dollar, the euro, the Japanese yen and the South Korean won, etc., rather than being strictly and solely tied to the US dollar.

The reasons for the large Chinese foreign reserves can be contributed to a number of factors, as follows: (1) A large surplus was kept in both the current and capital account (cp. Xu Zhifeng 2005); (2) Chinese residents or enterprises are only allowed to keep a limited amount of foreign exchanges. The amount exceeding the foreign exchanges allowed to keep must be sold to banks which sell the foreign exchanges to the central bank, which in turn collects a substantial part of the Chinese foreign assets (cp. Zhang Jindong 2004); (3) The exchange rate of the RMB seems to be undervalued (cp. Wang Zhao 2005); (4) The difference in interest rates between Chinese and foreign financial markets and the expectation of a further appreciation of the RMB stimulate Chinese financial institutions, enterprises and residents to change foreign currency in RMB (cp. He Dexu 2006); (5) Hot money for speculative purposes flows into China under the expectation of RMB appreciation (cp. Li Junjie 2006); (6) The export-led strategy of China leads to central bank interventions to prevent a strong appreciation of RMB (cp. Pang Jiaoming 2005).

With regard to huge foreign reserves, many economists have conducted research to check the adequacy of China's foreign reserves. Wu Lihua and Li Peng (2006) used the Agarwal model and compared the costs and returns of holding China's foreign reserves, and concluded that the size of Chinese foreign reserves has now exceeded the optimal level. Shi Jianren and Guo Encai (2001) put forward that the size of China's foreign reserves is much larger than the appropriate amount measured by the ratio of foreign reserves to imports, the ratio of reserves to short-term foreign liability, and the ratio of reserves to a broad money supply. With the model of Frenkel (1979), Xu Chenming (2001) proved that the size of Chinese foreign reserves has been relatively excessive since the 1990s. With such huge

¹ In this paper, foreign reserves of China specifically refer to the foreign reserves of mainland China excluding the reserves of Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macao.

reserves, some scholars suggest that the rate of return of foreign reserves is too low. For instance, after deducting the inflation rate and the costs of the sterilization of foreign exchange interventions, the actual average yields of U.S. treasury securities, which account for the largest part of foreign exchange reserves held by the central bank of China, are only about 0.7%-1.7% (cp. Yan Qifa 2006).

Other researchers and officials are currently paying more attention to how to deal with such huge reserves: Zhou Xiaochuan, President of the People's Bank of China (PBC) (Chinese central bank), believes that the size of China's foreign reserves is "sufficient" and that China has no intention to "enlarge this size further". At the same time, he disclosed that the PBC will hand over part of its reserves to the newly established institutions for foreign investment purposes. Hu Xiaolian, the Director General of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of China, declared that "China will further optimize the asset structure and currency structure of foreign reserve".

This paper deals with the question how to effectively manage foreign reserves with respect to the current situation of China's abundant foreign reserves. It can be divided into four sections. The first section discusses the strategy of how to manage foreign reserves and puts forward that China can carry out a classified reserve management strategy - regular reserve management and excess reserve management. In the second section, we review the size and currency structure of regular foreign reserves. In the third section, the size and currency structure of excess reserves are discussed. The fourth section offers conclusions for new institutions and proposals.

2. The Strategy of Classifying the Management of Foreign Reserves

The basic functions of foreign reserves include the financing of the imbalance of international payments and maintaining the stability of the domestic currency. To assure such functions, foreign reserve management should focus on liquidity and safety. If the size of foreign reserves of an economy is larger than needed to satisfy these basic functions, the surplus part exceeding the amount of reserves needed for these basic functions might have additional functions as the opportunity costs for holding foreign reserves are higher. On the other hand, if the size of reserves is large enough, the goals of management cannot be the same as for the management of reserves for basic needs. Higher rates of return are necessarily required for surplus reserves. Thus, if the size of reserves is larger than that of the basic needs, the reserves might be divided into two parts: one as regular foreign exchange reserves with its management focused on liquidity, safety and stability; the other as excess foreign exchange reserves, with its management or investment paying more

² Zhou Xiaochuan expressed this view on 20th March, 2007 when he attended the Annual Conference of the Inter-American Development Bank in Guatemala.

³ Hu Xiaolian made this speech at the Conference of China's Foreign Exchange Administration, 5th Jan. 2006.

attention to returns. The objectives, scope and evaluation criteria of management, as well as the currency structure of reserve holdings for each part might vary.

Some central banks have already carried out such policies of foreign reserve management. For example, Norway's foreign exchange reserves are split into four sub-portfolios: (1) the liquidity portfolio, which is used in connection with the conduct of monetary policy (for potential foreign exchange interventions and to control liquidity and interest rates in the Norwegian money market); (2) the long-term portfolio or investment portfolio, which should also be available for market operations, but is intended for investment on the basis of more long-term considerations; (3) the so called immunization portfolio, which is equivalent to government foreign currency debt and is aimed at neutralizing foreign exchange and the interest rate risks associated with foreign debt; (4) the Petroleum Fund buffer portfolio, which receives capital daily, and is transferred to the Government Petroleum Fund on a monthly basis.⁴

We suggest that China should divide its foreign reserves in regular reserves and excess reserves to help to improve the management of its reserves. In the following, emphasis is placed on the size of the regular reserves needed to satisfy the basic needs and its management strategy. Then we discuss the investment strategy of excess reserves.

3. The Management of China's Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves

3.1. Objectives

How much foreign reserve does a country need, or what is the adequate level of regular reserve a country requires? Studies by Robert Triffin (1960) suggested that reserve adequacy requires a minimum average yearly reserve equal to 30-35 percent of yearly imports. Guidotti (1999), Argentina's former Deputy Minister of Finance, proposed that the size of one country's reserves should be sufficient to satisfy its net external payments and liabilities without additional foreign borrowing for up to one year. Alan Greenspan (1999), Chairman of the US Federal Reserve Board, also suggested calibrating reserve adequacy on short term debt outstanding with a maturity of less than one year. Another reserve adequacy criterion is the reserve to broad money (M2) ratio, used by Kaminsky and Reinhart (1999). De Beaufort Wijnholds and Kapteyn (2001) estimated the need for foreign reserves according to possible capital exports by domestic residents.

In this paper, regular reserves in China have the following functions: a) meeting the demands for imports; b) meeting the demands of debt repayment of foreign debt including interest; c)

⁴ Guidelines and performance reports for the foreign exchange reserves and various funds managed by the Norges Bank and invested in the international capital markets are presented on Norges Bank's website (www.norgesbank.no).

meeting the demands of remitting or transferring profits by foreign enterprises; d) meeting the demand of intervening in the foreign exchange market to stabilize the RMB exchange rate.

To fulfill these aims reserves generally have to be kept in a liquid form as demand and time deposits, short-term money market instruments and treasury bills.

3.2. Determining the Scale of Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves

The size of the regular foreign exchange reserves are determined by the total amount needed to meet the demand of the objectives mentioned above. In a simplified approach the regular exchange reserves can be roughly regarded as the sum of the reserves needed for the different objectives. If the quantity of demand which meets the objectives above is recorded as "Di" (i=1,2,3,4), the appropriate scale of the regular foreign exchange reserves (D) can be expressed as:

$$D = D1 + D2 + D3 + D4$$
 or

$$D = \alpha IM + DF + \beta FDI + \gamma T$$

IM stands for annual imports, α for the proportion of needed reserves to annual imports, DF for the annual amount of repaying foreign debt and interest, FDI for the accumulated balance of FDI, β for the proportion of profit transfers to accumulated FDI, T for the total trading volume in the foreign exchange market, y for the ratio of foreign reserve intervention by the central bank needed to stabilize the foreign exchange rate. We select the data from 1999 to 2005 as samples to quantitatively sum up an estimation of the appropriate scale of Chinese regular foreign exchange reserves.

D1: Demand of Foreign Exchange Reserves for Satisfying Imports

The "import ratio analysis" raised by Triffin (1960) is the most representative. According to his empirical analysis, he holds that a country's appropriate reserves should satisfy the payment of imports for three months. Hence, α = 0.25. Using this method, the quantity of foreign reserves will guarantee "normal" imports. For China, this is illustrated in Table 1.

Table 1: Foreign Reserves for Maintaining Normal Imports 1999-2005

Year	Annual Imports (IM)	D1= α <i>IM</i>
1999	1657.0	414.25
2000	2250.9	562.75
2001	2435.5	608.88
2002	2952.0	738.00
2003	4128.0	1032.00
2004	5614.2	1403.55
2005	6601.2	1650.30

Source: Statistical Yearbook of China (1999-2005), website of the National Bureau of Statistics of China

D2: Demands of Foreign Exchange Reserves for Satisfying the Debt Service

The basic functions of foreign exchange reserves also include repaying foreign debt including interest. The annual debt service is illustrated in Table 2.

Table 2: Foreign Reserves for Annual Debt Service 1999-2005

Unit: 100 Million US Dollar

Year	D2 = <i>DF</i>
1999	364.5
2000	350.1
2001	312.8
2002	696.7
2003	981.3
2004	1902.4
2005	2715.9

Source: Statistical Yearbook of China (1999-2005), website of State Administration of Foreign Exchange of China

D3: Demands of Foreign Reserves for Remitting Profits by Foreign Enterprises

Generally, foreign investors hope to get a rate of return above 10% for their foreign direct investment. Wu Jian (1998) suggests that the ratio of repatriated profits as a percent of accumulated FDI in China is about 15%. This means that β = 0.15. The foreign reserve requirements for remitting profits are given in Table 3.

Table 3: Foreign Reserves for Foreign Enterprises' Profit Transfers 1999-2005

Year	Accumulated Balance of FDI	D3 = <i>β FDI</i>
1999	3076.36	461.454
2000	3484.08	522.612
2001	3952.54	592.881
2002	4502.65	675.398
2003	5027.70	754.155
2004	5621.01	843.152
2005	6345.01	951.752

Source: Statistical Yearbook of China (1999-2005), website of National Bureau of Statistics of China

D4: Demands of Foreign Reserves for Central Bank Interventions in the Foreign Exchange Market

Wei Xiaoqin and You Yuanbao (2004) suggest that the amount of foreign reserves for China's central bank interventions in foreign exchange markets accounts for 10%-20% of the total foreign exchange transaction. Thus γ = 0.15. The demand of foreign reserves for foreign exchange market interventions are given in Table 4.

Table 4: Foreign Reserves for Central Bank Interventions in the Foreign Exchange Market 1999-2005

Unit: 100 Million US Dollar

	Total Trading Volume in	
Year	Foreign Exchange	D4 = γ <i>T</i>
	Market, T	
1999	314.50	47.185
2000	421.80	63.270
2001	750.30	112.555
2002	971.90	145.795
2003	1511.32	226.700
2004	2099.41	314.910
2005	1461.46	219.220

Source: Statistical Yearbook of China (1999-2005), website of People's Bank of China.

According to equation 3.1 above, the scale of regular foreign exchange reserves and that of excess foreign exchange reserves in China since 1999 can be calculated. The results are given in Table 5.

Table 5: The Scale of China's Regular and Excess Foreign Exchange Reserves 1999-2005

Year	Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves	Actual Foreign Exchange Reserves	Excess Foreign Exchange Reserves
1999	1287.38	1546.75	259.37
2000	1498.73	1655.74	157.01
2001	1627.10	2121.65	494.55
2002	2255.89	2864.07	608.19
2003	2994.15	4032.51	1038.36
2004	4464.01	6099.32	1635.31
2005	5537.171	8188.72	2651.549

Source: Data from Table 1, Table 2, Table 3 and Table 4

3.3. The Determination of the Currency Structure of Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves

Foreign reserves are composed of foreign assets usually denominated in reserve currencies. The reserve currencies in the world mainly include the US dollar, the euro, the Japanese yen, the pound sterling, etc. According to the IMF (2006), the international composition of the accumulation of foreign reserve currencies in 2006 was 65.7% in US dollar, 25.2% in euro, 4.2% in pound sterling, 3.2% in Japanese yen and in 1.7% other currencies.

The principles of managing regular foreign reserves are demand oriented. The currency composition of regular reserves are based on the currency structure of China's imports, the currency structure of foreign debt, FDI, and the currency structure used by intervening in foreign exchange markets.

The Currency Structure Needed for Imports

The currency structure of foreign reserves needed for imports depends on the currency structure of imports. The main origins of China's imports include Japan, the Republic of Korea, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), Taiwan, the European Union (EU) and the United States⁵. However, the RMB tends to be more important among the traders in Eastern Asia, and has actually become the main currency in the settlement of trades between ASEAN and China. Fu Liying, Assistant Minister of the Department of Commerce of China, has suggested that the RMB is soon expected to become the official

⁵ See Statistical Yearbook of China (2005)

settlement currency within the Free Trade Area of Sino-ASEAN⁶. So the factors influenced by imports from ASEAN will no longer be considered as deciding factors of the currency structure of reserves. Although Great Britain belongs to the EU, the pound sterling is a separate reserve currency; we list its trade with China accordingly. Imports from Japan, Korea, Taiwan, the EU, the US, and Great Britain are shown in Table 6.

Table 6: The Import Structure of China 1999-2005

Unit: 100 Million US Dollar

Countries or Regions	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005
United States	194.78	223.63	262.02	272.38	338.66	446.57	487.30
Japan EU*	337.63 224.62	415.10 272.53	427.97 321.96	534.66 351.94	741.48 494.43	943.27 634.52	1004.50 676.32
Great Britain	29.95	35.92	35.27	33.36	35.70	47.59	59.48
Republic of Korea	172.26	232.07	233.89	285.68	431.28	622.34	768.20
Total	3153.51	3434.19	3555.51	3860.63	4538.16	5345.87	5747.61

Source: Statistical Yearbook of China (1999-2005)

Besides trading with the United States, the currency used for bilateral trades with the Republic of Korea and Taiwan is also usually denominated in US dollar. The euro has become the major currency used in trading between China and EU (excluding Great Britain). Imports from Britain are assumed to be denominated in pounds sterling. Then, the currency structure of mainland China's imports is given in Table 7. If we assume a fluctuation range of 5 percent of import values we will come form Table 7 to Table 8.

Table 7: Currency Structure of China's Imports 1999-2005

(in percent of total imports)

Currency	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	average
US dollar	48.71	49.55	49.49	50.50	49.84	51.36	53.50	50.42
Euro	19.46	19.00	20.71	18.94	19.50	18.99	18.07	19.24
Yen	29.24	28.94	27.53	28.77	29.25	28.2	26.84	28.40
Others	2.59	2.50	2.27	1.79	1.41	1.42	1.59	1.94
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Source: Data from Table 6

^{*} Data of EU includes 15 countries excluding Britain from 1999-2004; includes 25 countries excluding Britain in 2005

⁶ Speech by Fu Ziying, Assistant Minister, Department of Commerce of China, at the news conference held by the State Council of China, 16 Sep. 2005.

Table 8: Currency Structure of China's Imports with an Assumed Fluctuation in the Range of 5 Percent

(in percent of total imports)

Currency	US Dollar	Japanese Yen	Euro	Other Reserve
Curroney	oo bona.	oupunoco ron	20.0	Currencies
Ratio	48 to 53	26 to 31	17 to 22	0 to 4

Source: Data from Table 6

The Currency Structure Needed for Foreign Debt Service

The foreign exchange reserves of a country should be sufficient to guarantee external liquidity and solvency. To calculate the needed reserves the currency structure of foreign debt becomes important. For a long time, most of China's foreign debts have been denominated in US dollars, Japanese yen, German marks and French francs (in 1999 transferred to euro) and some other currencies.

At the end of 2006, the debts denominated in US dollar accounted for 69.71% of the total balance of the registered foreign Chinese debt, while debt denominated in Japanese yen and euro respectively accounted for 10.86% and 7.3%, and other debts including SDRs accounted for 12.13%.⁷ Assuming again a fluctuation range of 5 percent, the currency structure needed for debt service is given in Table 9.

Table 9: Currency Structure Needed for Debt Service with an Assumed Fluctuation Range of 5 Percent

(in percent of total debt service)

Currency	US Dollar	Japanese Yen	Euro	Other Reserve
Currency	OO Donai	oapanese ren	Luio	Currencies
Ratio	67 to 72	8 to 13	5 to 10	10 to 15

Source: China's International Balance of Payments Report for 2006, issued by the People's Bank of China, 2006

The Currency Structure Needed for Transferring Profits from Firms in Mainland China to Firms Outside Mainland China

High foreign direct investment inflows are one of the main sources of China's increasing foreign exchange reserves. The cumulated inward FDI to China from the top ten origins up to 2005 is given in Table 10.

⁷ Source: China's International Balance of Payments Report for 2006, issued by the People's Bank of China, 2006.

Table 10: Cumulated Inward FDI to China from Top Ten Origins to 2005

Origin	Amount	Proportion in Percent
Hong Kong	2595.2	45.01
Taiwan	417.6	7.24
Japan	533.4	9.25
USA	510.9	8.86
EU*	341.9	5.93
Cayman	86.6	1.50
British Virgin Islands	459.2	7.96
Great Britain	131.2	2.28
ASEAN	379.4	6.58
Republic of Korea	311.0	5.39
Total	5766.4	100

Source: Statistical Yearbook of China (1999-2005)

Nevertheless, the World Bank (2002) suggested that a large proportion of inward FDI to mainland China is merely its capital flight which comes back to mainland China by round tripping, especially FDI from Hong Kong.⁸ Although round tripping also does stem from other origins, especially other off-shore centers, we have only calculated the FDI from Hong Kong. There are two important reasons: firstly, the FDI from off-shore centers to mainland China including Hong Kong is usually denominated in US dollar; secondly, as we have discussed, the amount of FDI from Hong Kong is close to that of the capital flights estimated by errors and omissions in China's international balance of payments. We therefore estimate the quantity of inward FDI from Hong Kong to be equal to that of the round-tripping capital and assume such capital will not flow out any longer.

As we have discussed above, we also exclude ASEAN. Excluding Hong Kong and ASEAN, the FDI structure is given in Table 11:

^{*} Data of the EU includes 15 countries excluding Britain from 1999-2004 and includes 25 countries excluding Britain in 2005

⁸ The World Bank (2002) used a separate box with the title "Round-tripping of capital flows between PRC and Hong Kong, China" to highlight the importance of the round tripping FDI in the PRC (see Box 2.3 on page 41 of World Bank 2002). The graph shows Hong Kong, China's annual flow of FDI to PRC follows closely PRC's net errors and omissions in its Balance and Payment. Since the net errors and omissions term is usually regarded as a proxy for capital flight. The graph gives the impressions that capital flights have come back to PRC in the form of FDI from Hong Kong.

Table 11: Cumulated Inward FDI to China Excluding Hong Kong and ASEAN

Origins	Amount	Proportion in Percent
Taiwan	417.6	14.96
Japan	533.4	19.11
USA	510.9	18.30
EU*	341.9	12.25
Cayman	86.6	3.10
British Virgin Islands	459.2	16.45
Great Britain	131.2	4.70
Republic of Korea	311,0	11.14
Total	2791.8	100

Source: Data from Table 10

The settlement currency between mainland China, Taiwan, and the Republic of Korea is mainly US dollar. The FDI from the off-shore centers, such as the Cayman and British Virgin Islands is also mainly denominated in US dollar. The currency structure of inward FDI to mainland China is given in Table 12.

Table 12: Currency Structure of Inward FDI to Mainland China

Unit: 100 million US Dollar

Currency	Amount	Proportion in Percent
US dollar	1785.3	63.95
Yen	533.4	19.11
Euro	341.9	12.25
Other	131.2	4.70
Total	2791.8	100

Source: Data from Table 10

We assume the currency structure of remitting profits back to home countries is the same as the currency structure of inward FDI to mainland China. The structure with a fluctuation range of 5 percent is given in Table 13.

Table 13: Currency Structure of Profits Remittances by Cumulated Inward FDI (Fluctuation Range of 5 Percent)

Currency	US Dollar	Japanese Yen	Euro	Other
	00 Domai			Currencies
Ratio	61 to 66	17 to 22	10 to 15	2 to 7

Source: Data from Table 10

The Currency Structure Needed for Central Bank Foreign Exchange Market Interventions

Wei Xiaoqin and You Yuanbao (2004) put forward that the amount of foreign exchange needed by the central bank for intervening in the foreign exchange market relates to the total volume of foreign exchange transactions. As the RMB has not been freely convertible, the

demand for central bank reserves for foreign exchange market interventions is smaller than under a regime of full convertibility. The currencies transacted in China's inter-bank foreign exchange market are limited to US dollar, the Japanese yen and Hong Kong dollar, as well as to euro, added at April 1, 2002. We will not consider the factors of Hong Kong, because the RMB is becoming more and more available and acceptable in Hong Kong. The transaction volumes in US dollar, the Japanese yen and euro on China's inter-bank foreign exchange market from 2002 to 2004 are shown in Table 14. The currency structure needed for central bank interventions on the foreign exchange market is given in Table 15.

Table 14: Transactions in US Dollar, Japanese Yen and Euro in China's Inter-Bank Foreign Exchange Market, 2002-2004

(in percent of total transactions)

Year	US Dollar	Japanese Yen	Euro
2002	99.22	0.65	0.13
2003	99.27	0.48	0.25
2004	99.24	0.64	0.12

Source: Calculated from data of the Financial Statistical Yearbook of China (1999-2005), website of the People's Bank of China

Table 15: Currency Structure Needed for Central Bank Interventions in China's Inter-Bank Foreign Exchange Market

(Fluctuation Range of 5 Percent)

Currency	US Dollar	Japanese Yen	Euro	Other reserve currencies
Ratio	95 to 99	1 to3	1 to 3	0

Source: Data from Table 14

The Currency Composition of Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves

As can be seen above we have calculated the different components of regular foreign exchange reserves needed. The total amount of regular reserves is shown in Table 16.

Table 16: The Total Need for Regular Reserves

	The Average Amount of	Portfolio Weight in	
Demand Factor	Needed Foreign Reserves	Reserves, in	
	(100 Million US Dollar)	Percent	
Maintaining Normal Imports	915.675	32.60	
(D1)	0.0.0.0	0=.00	
Debt Service (D2)	1046.243	37.24	
Profit Remittances by	685.9146	24.42	
Foreign Enterprises(D3)	065.9140	24.42	
Interventions in the Foreign	161.3719	5.74	
Exchange Market (D4)	101.3719	5.74	
Total	2809.204	100	

Source: Data from Table 1, Table 2, Table 3 and Table 4

The currency structure of China's regular foreign exchange reserves is shown in Table 17.

Table 17: The Currency Structure of China's Regular Foreign Exchange Reserves in Percent of Total Regular Reserves

Currency	US Dollar	Japanese Yen	Euro	Other Reserve Currencies
Ratio	61 to 66	16 to 21	10 to 15	4 to 9

Source: Data from Table 8, Table 9, Table 13 and Table 15

4. The Management of China's Excess Foreign Exchange Reserves

Excess foreign exchange reserves are the surpluses which surpass the regular reserves. Keeping the long-term value and realizing high investment yields are the primary targets of the management of excess reserves. Some countries set up independent investment institutions to manage this part of their reserves. Normally the investment period, the yield and scope of investing excess reserves might be longer, higher and larger than those of regular reserves. For example, the assets invested can be long-term bonds issued by foreign governments, financial institutions, corporations with a high credit rating, and even some strategic equities.

The main difference between the management of excess foreign exchange reserves and the management of regular reserves is that the former pays more attention to liquidity and the latter pays more attention to long-term safety and profitability. When deciding the currency structure of excess reserves, the international status and the exchange rate risk of the various reserve currencies are the primary factors to be considered. Taking these factors into account the currency basket of the Special Drawing Rights (SDR) can serve as a reference to determine the optimal currency structure of excess foreign exchange reserves. The currency composition of SDRs is adjusted every 5 years. The structure of the basket mainly

reflects the relative importance of reserve currencies in international trade and the international financial system. The last adjustment occurred in October 2000 because of the introduction of the euro and its growing status in international financial markets. Nowadays, some countries such as Canada or Israel use the structure of SDRs as an orientation for their foreign reserve holdings or use SDRs as a measurement to evaluate the whole value of foreign exchange reserves. When we take the value of the US dollar on Jan 11th, 2006 the weights of the currency value can be calculated according to the composition of the SDRs. The result is shown in Table 18.

Table 18: SDRs and Their Components

(US Dollar Equivalent on January 11th 2006)

Currency	Component of the Currency Basket in SDRs	Spot Exchange Rate (US Dollar equivalent)	Value of US Dollar Equivalent	Portfolio Weight in SDRs in Percent
Euro	0.4260	1.2948	0.5516	36.90
Japanese Yen	21.0000	0.0084	0.1756	11.75
US Dollar	0.5770	1.0000	0.5770	38.60
Other currencies	0.0984	1.9327	0.1902	12.70

Source: see IMF website: www.imf.org

From the table above, the weight of euro in SDRs is close to that of the U.S. dollar, which to some degree reflects the increasing importance and improved status of the euro in the world economy estimated by the IMF; and it also shows the current trend of an appreciating euro. Therefore, concerning foreign exchange rate risks and the importance of currencies in the world market, it is necessary for China to adjust the currency structure of its excess foreign reserves with the aim to improve the safety and long-term purchasing power of these reserves. Today, about 60%-70% of China's reserve assets are denominated in US dollar, about 20% in euro, and 10% in Japanese yen.⁹ US treasury securities are the dominant assets held by China's government. According to the disclosure of the US Treasury Department, the holdings of US treasury securities by the Chinese government reached 414 billion US dollars by April 2007¹⁰, which accounts for 34.5% of its gross reserves¹¹. The large holdings of US government bonds help to finance the huge deficits of the US current account and also the deficit in the budget of public households. However, in a situation of US dollar depreciation, such huge holdings have and will definitely mean a great loss to China.

This is a dilemma for the central bank in China. On the one hand, from the perspective of portfolio management, reducing holdings of US assets is important; but on the other,

⁹ Cp. Zhou Maoqing, interviewed by a journalist, see the website www.XINHUANET.com, 31th, Apr. 2006.

¹⁰ The related report is presented on the website of the U.S. Treasury Department (www.ustreas.gov).

¹¹ The size of foreign reserves in China reached 1,200 billion in April 2007; see PBC website, (www.pbc.gov. cn).

reducing them will encourage US dollar depreciation even further, which will hurt China itself, as the rest of the reserves in US dollar will suffer a decline in value. Reducing US assets, moreover, will enlarge fluctuations of exchange rates in the world.¹²

Thus, reducing US assets of foreign reserves cannot be realized in the near future, while decreasing the ratio of US assets for the increment of reserves might be a proper way to change the currency structure of Chinese official reserves.

5. New Institutions for Managing Chinese Excess Foreign Exchange Reserves

Most of the foreign reserves in China have been kept by the PBC, and the daily management has been run by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange, which is an associated independent institution belonging to the PBC. Excess foreign exchange reserves were invested in bonds issued by foreign governments, financial institutions and corporations with outstanding ratings. However, the two newly established companies, "Central Huijin Investment Company of China" 13 and "China's Forex Investment Company 14" reflect a new pattern of the management of China's foreign exchange reserves. The investment direction of the former is focused on the equities of local financial institutions. Huijin has already bought the stocks of the Bank of China, the Construction Bank of China, the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China and has become the biggest shareholders before their listings on the stock exchange markets. The investment strategy of the latter is mainly concentrated on overseas equities. In June 2006, this company bought about 10% of the shares of the US Blackstone Group, valued at 3 billion US dollars. Equity investments helps to achieve higher earnings for foreign reserves. For example, the listing of the "Bank of China" on the stock exchange market brought Huijin a profit of more than 360 billion RMB, about 47 billion US dollars¹⁵.

The establishment of these two companies is a new experience for China. The companies are commercially driven and engage in long-term strategic investment. A number of issues, such as who is authorized to manage the companies, their legal foundations, how reserves should be allocated as well as how internal and external corporate governance should be shaped all need to be clarified and explored further.

¹² A brief announcement that "China will diversify the structure of foreign reserves" by one of China's officials brought about a great disturbance in the US, for US media guessed that China would begin selling US assets. The announcement also shocked the international financial market. The markets could not be stabilized until officials from both of the US and China refuted such rumors publicly. See the website: www.XINHUANET.com, 31th Mar. 2006.

¹³ The PBC injected 45 billion US dollars of foreign reserves to establish the "Central Huijin Investment Company" in 2003.

¹⁴ In 2007 the "Foreign Exchange Investment Company of China" was injected by the Ministry of Finance (MOF) of China, who authorized the company by national legislation to sell 1.55 trillion yuan (US dollar 200 billion) of special treasury bonds. The funds raised will be used to buy US dollar 200 billion of the country's total of US dollar1.2 trillion foreign exchange reserves from the central bank.

¹⁵ Xie Ping, CEO of Central Huijin Investment Company of China gave a speech on the "Conference of Framework of International Finance and Financial Supervision", held by Tsinghua University, Beijing, 10th Jul. 2006.

6. References

Chenming, X. (2001), "Dynastic Model of China's Demands of Foreign Reserves", Economics Science, 2001 (5)

De Beaufort Wijnholds, J.A.H. and Kapteyn, A. (2001), "Reserve Adequacy in Emerging Market Economies", Working Paper No.01/43, IMF

Dexu, H., Zhanqi Y., and Shengguo, Y. (2006), "Capital Liquidity: Based on Comparisons between China and other Asia Emerging Countries", Journal of Economic Research, 2006 (9)

Frenkel, J. and Jovanovic, B. (1981). "Optimal International Reserves: A Stochastic Framework", Economic Journal, Vol. 9.

Greenspan, A. (1999). "Currency Reserves and Debt", Remarks at the World Bank Conference on Trends in Reserve Management (Washington, DC, April 29)

Guidotti, P. (1999), "Remarks at G-33 Seminar in Bonn", April.

IMF (2001). "Guidelines for Foreign Exchange Reserve Management", September 2001

IMF (2006), "Currency Composition of Official Foreign Exchange Reserves", see website: www.imf.org

Jian, W. (1998), "The Analysis and Definition of the Scale of China's Foreign Exchange Reserves", Journal of Economic Research, 1998 (6)

Jianren, S. and Encai, G. (2001), "Empirical Analysis of China's Foreign Reserves", Journal of Liao Lin Normal University, 2001 (6)

Jiaoming, P. (2005), "High Foreign Reserves are reflected Distorted Development Strategies of China", China Daily of Economics, 24th Aug. 2005

Jindong, Z. (2004), "RMB Appreciate or Not", Economics Trends. Jan. 2004

Junjie, L. (2006), "Appreciation Pressure of RMB", China Investment, 2006 (12)

Kaminsky, G. and Reinhart, C. (1999). "The Twin Crises: The Causes of Banking and Balance-of-Payments Problems", American Economic Review, Vol. 89

Lihua, W. and Peng, L. (2006), "Empirical Research on China's Adequacy of Foreign Reserves", Working paper, China Conference in Finance, 2006 (10).

Qifa, Y. (2006), "Great Challenges of China's Foreign Reserve Management", Economists of World, 1th Jan. 2006

Triffin, R. (1960), Gold and the Dollar Crisis: The Future of Convertibility, New Heaven, Connecticut, Yale University Press.

World Bank (2002), "Box 2.3: Round-tripping of capital flows between China and Hong Kong." Global Development Finance, 2002 (41)

Xiaoqin, W. and Yuanbao, Y. (2004), "The improvement and application of Agarwall model", Journal of World Economic Research, 2004 (8).

Zhao, W. (2005), "Understanding China's Foreign Reserves in Strategic Views", Shanghai Security Daily, 27th Oct. 2005

Zhifeng, X. (2007), "711 Billion Foreign Reserve Excessive or Not?", People's Daily, 20th Jul. 2007

7. Working Papers des Institute of Management Berlin an der Fachhochschule für Wirtschaft Berlin

- Bruche, Gert / Pfeiffer, Bernd: Herlitz (A) Vom Großhändler zum PBS-Konzern Fallstudie, Oktober 1998
- 2. Löser, Jens: Das globale Geschäftsfeld "Elektrische Haushaltsgroßgeräte" Ende der 90er Jahre Fallstudie, Oktober 1998
- Lehmann, Lutz Lars: Deregulation and Human Resource Management in Britain and Germany – Illustrated with Coca-Cola Bottling Companies in Both Countries, March 1999
- 4. Bruche, Gert: Herlitz (B) Strategische Neuorientierung in der Krise Fallstudie, April 1999
- Herr, Hansjörg / Tober, Silke: Pathways to Capitalism Explaining the Difference in the Economic Development of the Visegrad States, the States of the Former Soviet Union and China, October 1999
- 6. Bruche, Gert: Strategic Thinking and Strategy Analysis in Business A Survey on the Major Lines of Thought and on the State of the Art, October 1999, 28 pages
- 7. Sommer, Albrecht: Die internationale Rolle des Euro, Dezember 1999, 31 Seiten
- 8. Haller, Sabine: Entwicklung von Dienstleistungen Service Engineering und Service Design, Januar 2000
- 9. Stock, Detlev: Eignet sich das Kurs-Gewinn-Verhältnis als Indikator für zukünftige Aktienkursveränderungen?, März 2000
- 10. Lau, Raymond W.K.: China's Privatization, June 2000
- 11. Breslin, Shaun: Growth at the Expense of Development? Chinese Trade and Export-Led Growth Reconsidered, July 2000, 30 pages
- 12. Michel, Andreas Dirk: Market Conditions for Electronic Commerce in the People's Republic of China and Implications for Foreign Investment, July 2000, 39 pages
- 13. Bruche, Gert: Corporate Strategy, Relatedness and Diversification, September 2000, 34 pages
- 14. Cao Tingui: The People's Bank of China and its Monetary Policy, October 2001, 21 pages
- Herr, Hansjörg: Wages, Employment and Prices. An Analysis of the Relationship Between Wage Level, Wage Structure, Minimum Wages and Employment and Prices, June 2002, 60 pages

- Herr, Hansjörg / Priewe, Jan (eds.): Current Issues of China's Economic Policies and Related International Experiences – The Wuhan Conference 2002 - , February 2003, 180 pages
- 17. Herr, Hansjörg / Priewe, Jan: The Macroeconomic Framework of Poverty Reduction An Assessment of the IMF/World Bank Strategy, February 2003, 69 pages
- 18. Wenhao, Li: Currency Competition between EURO and US-Dollar, June 2004, 18 pages
- Kramarek, Maciej: Spezifische Funktionen des Leasings in der Transformationsperiode, Juni 2004, 32 Seiten
- 20. Godefroid, Peter: Analyse von Multimedia-Lern/Lehrumgebungen im Fach Marketing im englischsprachigen Bereich inhaltlicher Vergleich und Prüfung der Einsatzfähigkeit an deutschen Hoschulen, September 2004, 48 Seiten
- 21. Kramarek, Maciej: Die Attraktivität des Leasings am Beispiel polnischer Regelungen der Transformationsperiode, April 2005, 33 Seiten
- 22. Pan, Liu / Tao, Xie: The Monetary Policy Transmission in China "Credit Channel" and its Limitations
- 23. Hongjiang, Zhao / Wenxu, Wu / Xuehua, Chen: What Factors Affect Small and Medium-sized Enterprise's Ability to Borrow from Bank: Evidence from Chengdu City, Capital of South-western China's Sichuan Province, May 2005, 23 pages
- 24. Fritsche, Ulrich: Ergebnisse der ökonometrischen Untersuchung zum Forschungsprojekt Wirtschaftspolitische Regime westlicher Industrienationen, March 2006, 210 Seiten
- Körner, Marita: Constitutional and Legal Framework of Gender Justice in Germany,
 November 2006, 14 pages
- 26. Tomfort, André: The Role of the European Union for the Financial Integration of Eastern Europe, December 2006, 20 pages
- 27. Gash, Vanessa / Mertens, Antje / Gordo, Laura Romeu: Are Fixed-Term Job Bad for Your Health? A Comparison between Western Germany and Spain, March 2007, 29 pages
- 28. Kamp, Vanessa / Niemeier, Hans-Martin / Müller, Jürgen: Can we Learn From Benchmarking Studies of Airports and Where do we Want to go From Here? April 2007, 43 pages
- 29. Brand, Frank: Ökonomische Fragestellungen mit vielen Einflussgrößen als Netzwerke. April 2007, 28 pages
- 30. Venohr, Bernd / Klaus E. Meyer: The German Miracle Keeps Running: How Germany's Hidden Champions Stay Ahead in the Global Economy. May 2007, 31 pages
- 31. Tomenendal, Matthias: The Consultant-Client Interface A Theoretical Introduction to the Hot Spot of Management Consulting. August 2007, 17 pages
- 32. Zenglein, Max J.: US Wage Determination System. September 2007, 30 pages
- 33. Figeac, Alexis: Socially Responsible Investment und umweltorientiertes Venture Capital. December 2007, 45 pages

- 34. Gleißner, Harald A.: Post-Merger Integration in der Logistik Vom Erfolg und Misserfolg bei der Zusammenführung von Logistikeinheiten in der Praxis. March 2008, 27 pages
- 35. Bürkner, Fatiah: Effektivitätssteigerung im gemeinnützigen Sektor am Beispiel einer regionalen 'Allianz für Tanz in Schulen'. April 2008, 29 pages
- 36. Körner, Marita: Grenzüberschreitende Arbeitsverhältnisse Grundlinien des deutschen Internationalen Privatrechts für Arbeitsverträge. April 2008, 22 pages

Special Edition:

Ben Hur, Shlomo: A Call to Responsible Leadership. Keynote Speech at the FHW Berlin MBA Graduation Ceremony 2006. November 24th, 2006, Berlin City Hall, April 2007, 13 pages